Financial Statements and Independent Auditor's Report Kredo Finance sh.p.k.

31 December 2022

CONTENTS

Independent Auditor's Report

Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position	1
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	2
Statement of Changes in Equity	3
Statement of Cash Flows	4

Notes to the Financial Statements

1	Reporting entity	5
2	Basis of preparation	5
3	Changes in accounting policies	
4	Summary of the most important accounting policies	6
5	Significant accounting estimates and judgments in the application of accounting policies	
6	Cash and Cash Equivalents	
7	Loans and Advances to Customers	17
8	Other Assets	
9	Premises and Equipment	
10	Intangible Assets	
11	Borrowed Funds	
12	Other Liabilities	25
13	Share Capital	25
14	Interest Income and Expense	25
15	Fee and Commission Income and Expense	26
16	Other operational income	
17	Salaries and related taxes	
18	Administrative and Other Operating Expenses	26
19	Income Taxes	
20	Financial Risk Management	
21	Management of Capital	
22	Fair Value Disclosures	35
23	Related Party Transactions	
24	Legal litigation	
25	Events after the reporting period	



Grant Thornton Sh.p.k. Rr: Sami Frasheri, Kompleksi T.I.D, Shk. B Floor 1, 10 000 Tirana, Albania

T +355 44 525 880 M +355 69 4014 701 www.grantthornton.al contact@al.gt.com

Independent Auditor's Report

To the owners of Kredo Finance sh.p.k.,

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Kredo Finance sh.p.k., (hereafter referred as the "Entity") which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Entity as of 31 December 2022, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Albania, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

This version of our report/the accompanying documents is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Albanian. All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We are also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

This version of our report/the accompanying documents is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Albanian. All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation. • Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Grant Thornton sh.p.k.

Tirana, Albania 12 May 2023

Hedian Hodia, Feed ornto, sh.p.k NIPT K 91923007 M Tirana

This version of our report/the accompanying documents is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Albanian. All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.

Kredo Finance sh.p.k. Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022

In thousands of ALL	Note	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
ASSETS			
Cash and cash equivalents	6	78,846	70,773
Loans and advances to customers	7	3,323,719	2,298,757
Other assets	8	73,867	119,660
Deferred income tax asset		18,930	7,597
Premises and equipment	9	97,916	77,223
Intangible assets	10	85,631	90,908
TOTAL ASSETS		3,678,909	2,664,918
LIABILITIES			
Loans and borrowings	11	1,798,392	1,513,087
Other liabilities	12	295,506	183,435
TOTAL LIABILITIES		2,093,898	1,696,522
EQUITY			
Share capital	13	508,936	508,936
Retained earnings		1,076,075	459,460
TOTAL EQUITY		1,585,011	968,396
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		3,678,909	2,664,918

The financial statements were approved by the Administrator of Kredo Finance sh.p.k. and Chief Accountant on March 28th, 2023, by:

ance sh.p.k 2 0 0 16100 Chief Accountant am Arlinda Muja Chief Executive Officer NUTS LT

Kredo Finance sh.p.k. Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended on 31 December 2022

In thousands of ALL	Note	2022	2021
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method	14	2,285,576	1,342,206
Interest expense	14	(220,892)	(128,200)
Net margin on interest and similar income		2,064,684	1,214,006
Credit loss allowance		(691,280)	(445,218)
Net margin on interest and similar income after credit loss			
allowance		1,373,404	768,788
Fee and commission income	15	188,897	181,868
Other operational income	16	50,899	237,846
Personnel expenses	17	(252,348)	(189,412)
Amortization and depreciation	9,10	(90,598)	(86,762
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses		(753)	(17,546
Administrative and other operating expenses	18	(360,191)	(324,518)
Income before tax		909,310	570,264
Income tax expense	19	(152,616)	(103,337)
INCOME FOR THE YEAR		756,694	466,927
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year		-	
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR		756,694	466,92

In thousands of ALL	Note	Paid-in capital	Accumulated Profit / Losses	Total equity
Balance as of 31 December 2020		508,936	(7,467)	501,469
Effect of IFRS 16			-	-
Profit for the year		-	466,927	466,927
Other comprehensive income		-		
Total profit / loss for the year		-	459,460	968,396
Increase of capital		-	-	-
Balance as of 31 December 2021		508,936	459,460	968,396
Balance as of 1 January, 2022		508,936	459,460	968,396
Effect of IFRS 16		-	-	-
Profit for the year		-	756,694	756,694
Other comprehensive income		-	-	-
Dividend distribution		-	(140,079)	(140,079)
Total comprehensive income		-	1,076,075	1,585,011
Increase of capital		-		. ,
Balance as of 31 December 2022		508,936	1,076,075	1,585,011

Kredo Finance sh.p.k. Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended on 31 December 2022

Kredo Finance sh.p.k. Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended on 31 December 2022

In thousands of ALL	Note	2022	2021
Cash flows from operating activities			
Profit before tax		909,310	570,264
Adjustments for:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Losses from impairment of loans	7	691,280	445,218
Depreciation and amortization	9,10	90,291	86,762
Interest expense	14	220,892	128,200
Interest income	14	(2,285,576)	(1,342,206)
Fee income	15	(188,897)	(181,868
Other adjustments		-	
Increase of loan receivables		(1,522,951)	(1,671,176)
Increase of other current assets		45,793	(35,567
Increase of trade payables and other liabilities		252,150	89,100
Received interest		2,187,598	1,494,713
Paid interest		(301,315)	(42,004
Lease payment		(130,021)	(119,442
Net cash flows used in operating activities		(31,446)	(578,006)
Cash flows from investing activities			
Purchase of equipment and intangible asset		(106,014)	(135,811)
Decrease of equipment and intangible asset		307	1,141
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(105,707)	(134,670)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Inflows from borrowings received		285,305	734,283
Outflows from borrowings paid		-	
Dividend distribution		(140,079)	
Net cash flows from financing activities		145,226	734,283
Increase in cash and cash equivalents during the			
period		8,073	21,607
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period		70,773	49,166
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period		78,846	70,773

1 Reporting entity

Kredo Finance sh.p.k. (further referred as the "Entity") is a microcredit financial institution established and registered in the National Registration Center (NRC) dated 28 March 2017. It is registered as a Limited Liability Company in Tirana District with Identification Number of Taxable Person L71610009A.

The Entity's principal activity is based on the Law no. 9901, dated 14 April 2008 "On Entrepreneurs and Companies" and as well from its establishment act. The Entity is subject of the law 8269 dated December 1997 "On the Bank of Albania" and as well of the regulations and limits imposed by the Bank of Albania for the licensing and functioning of the microcredit financial institutions. Its main activity comprises: Financing of Micro loans, licensed from Central Bank with licence nr 42 on 17.11.2017.

On September 9, 2020, the transfer of 100% of the Entity's shares was approved from "AS Finitera" in favour of AS "NF Capital" with the parent entity AS Mogo Consumer Finance (today called AS Eleving Group), a registered joint stock entity in Riga, Latvia. This transfer was approved by the Bank of Albania on February 17, 2021. The Entity's paid-up capital on December 31, 2021, consists of 1 quota estimated at 508,936,362 ALL.

Ms. Arlinda Muja has been appointed Administrator of the Entity.

The address of Entity's main registered office and principal place of business is Rruga "Muhamet Gjollesha", Ndertesa Tirana Ring Center, Nr. 8, Kati 9, Tirana, Albania. The entity has activities in 40 branches on 31 December 2022 (2021: 44) branches.

The Entity at 31 December 2022 had 234 employees (31 December 2021: 204).

2 Basis of preparation

a) Statement of regulatory compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") under the historical cost convention. The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. Financial statements for year ended 31 December 2022 have been approved from management on March 28, 2022.

b) Going concern

The Entity's financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Entity will continue to operate for at least 12 months from the date of the financial reporting. For this purpose, the Entity conducts resistance tests, in order to assess the Entity's ability to withstand the effects of deteriorating market scenarios, as well as to judge the need to implement recovery plans or take liquidity management precautions. The activity of microcredit has continued to be affected by the pandemic situation and the Entity has continued to take concrete measures for managing the microcredit portfolio, identifying cases with repayment difficulties, irrecoverable loans, etc.

The Entity's Management has assessed the Entity's ability to continue its operations on a going concern basis and has concluded that the Entity has sufficient resources to continue its operations for a period of at least 12 months from date of financial reporting. Also, based on these estimates, Management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast doubt on the Entity's ability to continue operating.

c) Basis of measurement

The Entity's financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis with the exception of debt instruments at fair value through comprehensive income, which are measured at fair value, assets held for sale, which are measured at fair value minus cost to sell, and inventory, which is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

d) Functional and presentation currency

Financial statements of the Entity are presented in "Lek", which is the functional and reporting currency of the Entity. All information presented in "Lek" is rounded to the nearest thousand, unless stated otherwise. All amounts are in "Lek" unless stated otherwise.

3 Changes in accounting policies

3.1 New and revised standards effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022

Certain financial reporting standards that have become effective from January 1, 2022, and that have been approved do not have a significant impact on the Entity's financial results or position. For this reason, explanatory information related to these Standards has not been provided in the Entity's statements.

3.2 Standards, changes and interpretations of existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been previously approved by the Entity

Other standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Entity include:

- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
- Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4)
- References in the Conceptual Framework
- Revenues before intended use (Amendments to IAS 16)
- Construction contracts Cost of fulfilling a contract (Amendments to IAS 37)
- Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020 (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16, IAS 41)
- Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (amendments to IAS 1)
- Deferred tax related to Assets and Liabilities from a single transaction

These amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application and therefore the explanatory information is not presented.

4 Summary of the most important accounting policies

4.1 Financial instruments – key measurement terms

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument.

The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for the premium or discount, which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the expected life of the instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. For assets that are purchased or originated credit impaired ("POCI") at initial recognition, the effective interest rate is adjusted for credit risk, i.e., it is calculated based on the expected cash flows on initial recognition instead of contractual.

4.1.1 Financial Assets

a) Initial Recognition

Financial instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL) are initially recorded at fair value. All other financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value adjusted for transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include only data from observable markets.

After the initial recognition, an estimated credit loss (ECL) allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at amortized cost (AC) and investments in debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), resulting in an immediate accounting loss.

4.1 Summary of the most important accounting policies (Continued)

4.1.1 Financial Assets (Continued)

a) Initial Recognition (continued)

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation or market convention ("regular way" purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the date on which the Entity commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

b) Measurement categories

The Entity classifies financial assets in the following measurement categories: FVTPL, FVOCI and AC. The classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Entity's business model for managing the related assets portfolio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

c) Business model

The business model reflects how the Entity manages the assets in order to generate cash flows – whether the Entity's objective is: (i) solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets ("hold to collect contractual cash flows",) or (ii) to collect both the contractual cash flows and the cash flows arising from the sale of assets ("hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell") or, if neither of (i) and (ii) is applicable, the financial assets are classified as part of "other" business model and measured at FVTPL.

The business model is determined for the financial assets (portfolio level) based on all the appropriate evidence for the activities that the Entity undertakes to achieve the objective set in achieving the portfolio's condition on the evaluation date. Factors considered by the Entity in determining the business model include, Refer to Note 3 for critical judgements applied by the Entity in determining the business models for its financial assets.

d) Cash flow characteristics

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to hold contractual cash flows and sell, the Entity assesses whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI"). Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are consistent with the SPPI feature. In making this assessment, the Entity considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e., interest includes only consideration for credit risk, time value of money, other basic lending risks and profit margin.

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that is inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL. The SPPI assessment is performed on initial recognition of an asset, and it is not subsequently reassessed. Refer to Note 0. for critical judgements applied by the Entity in performing the SPPI test for its financial assets.

e) Reclassification

Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model for managing the portfolio as a whole changes. The reclassification has a prospective effect and takes place from the beginning of the first reporting period that follows after the change in the business model.

f) Credit loss allowance for ECL

The Entity assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the ECL for debt instruments measured at AC and FVOCI and for the exposures arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Entity measures ECL and recognises credit loss allowance at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, (ii) time value of money and (iii) all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost and effort at the end of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions.

4.1 Summary of the most important accounting policies (Continued)

4.1.1 Financial Assets (Continued)

f) Credit loss allowance for ECL (Continued)

Debt instruments measured at AC are presented in the statement of financial position net of the allowance for ECL. For financial instruments at FVOCI, changes in amortized cost, net value for ECL, are recognized in profit or loss and other changes in book value are recognized in OCI as the difference between profit and loss on debt financial instruments at FVOCI.

The Entity applies a three-stage model for impairment, based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage 1.

Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within the next 12 months or until contractual maturity, if shorter ("12 months ECL"). If the Entity identifies a significant increase in credit risk ("SICR") since initial recognition, the asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL on a lifetime basis, that is, up until contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any ("Lifetime ECL"). Assets are transferred to Stage 2 once their days past due exceed 30 days. If the Entity determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred to Stage 3 and its ECL is measured as a Lifetime ECL. Assets are transferred to Stage 3 once their days past due exceed 90 days. For financial assets that are purchased or originated credit-impaired ("POCI Assets"), the ECL is always measured as a Lifetime ECL.

g) Write-off

Financial assets are completely written off, when the Entity has exhausted all possible efforts to recover the liabilities and has reached the conclusion that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the liability. The write off represents a case of deregistration. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery of the obligation include: insolvency, the customer cannot be contacted, the customer has passed away and according to the requirements of the regulator for microcredit companies, the Entity applies the write-off of financial assets after 365 days of delay. The Entity may write off financial assets that are subject to enforcement of the agreement when the Entity seeks to recover amounts that are receivable under the contractual terms, although there is no reasonable expectation of receiving them.

h) Derecognition

The Entity derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets otherwise expired or (b) the Entity has transferred the rights to the cash flows from the financial assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through arrangement while (i) also transferring substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining substantially all risks and rewards of ownership, but not retaining control. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose restrictions on the sale.

i) Modification

The Entity sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual terms of the financial assets. The Entity assesses whether the modification of contractual cash flows is substantial considering, among other, the following factors.

If the modified terms are substantially different, the rights to cash flows from the original asset expire and the Entity derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at its fair value. The date of renegotiation is considered to be the date of initial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation purposes, including determining whether a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) has occurred.

The Entity also assesses whether the new loan or debt instrument meets the SPPI criterion. Any difference between the carrying amount of the original asset derecognised and fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profit or loss, unless the substance of the difference is attributed to a capital transaction with owners.

4.1 Summary of the most important accounting policies (Continued)

4.1.1 Financial Assets (Continued)

i) Modification (continued)

In a situation where the renegotiation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to make the originally agreed payments, the Entity compares the original and revised expected cash flows to assets whether the risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as a result of the contractual modification. If the risks and rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from the original asset and the modification does not result in derecognition. The Entity recalculates the gross carrying amount by discounting the modified contractual cash flows by the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for POCI financial assets) and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

4.1.2 Financial liabilities

a) Measurement categories

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at AC.

b) Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e., when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

An exchange between the Entity and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms and conditions of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

Modifications of liabilities that do not result in extinguishment are accounted for as a change in estimate using a cumulative catch-up method, with any gain or loss recognised in profit or loss, unless the economic substance of the difference in carrying values is attributed to a capital transaction with owners.

4.2 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are items which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and in banks. Funds restricted for a period of more than three months on origination are excluded from cash and cash equivalents, both in the statement of financial position and for the purposes of the statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at AC because: (i) they are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent SPPI, and (ii) they are not designated at FVTPL.

The payments or receipts presented in the statement of cash flows represent transfers of cash and cash equivalents by the Entity, including amounts charged or credited to current accounts of the Entity's counterparties held with the Entity, such as loan interest income or principal collected by charging the customer's current account or interest payments or disbursement of loans credited to the customer's current account, which represents cash or cash equivalent from the customer's perspective.

4.3 Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers are recorded when the Entity advances money to purchase or originate a loan due from a customer. Based on the business model and the cash flow characteristics, the Entity classifies loans and advances to customers as carried at AC. Loans are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent SPPI.

4.4 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where required.

Costs of minor repairs and day-to-day maintenance are expensed when incurred. Costs of replacing major parts or components of premises and equipment items are capitalised, and the replaced part is retired.

At the end of each reporting period management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of premises and equipment. If any such indication exists, management estimates the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the year. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's value in use or fair value less costs to sell.

Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recognised in

profit or loss for the year (within other operating income or expenses).

Depreciation.

Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. Depreciation of other items of premises and equipment and right-of-use assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives:

	Useful lives in years
Premises	[20]
Office equipment	[3]
Computer equipment	[4]
Right-of-use assets	Lease term of the underlying lease
Leasehold improvements	Remaining term of lease agreement

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Entity would currently obtain from disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

4.5 Intangible assets

The Entity's intangible assets other than goodwill have definite useful life and primarily include capitalised computer software. Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

Development costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software controlled by the Entity are recorded as intangible assets if the inflow of incremental economic benefits exceeding costs is probable. Capitalised costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. All other costs associated with computer software, e.g., its maintenance, are expensed when incurred. Capitalised computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over expected useful lives of 7 years.

4.6 Leased assets

The Entity as a lessee

The Entity signs rental agreements, mainly for the premises where the activity takes place, equipment and related furniture, IT equipment and motor vehicles (although currently the Entity does not use rental vehicles). The rental contracts for offices are typically negotiated for terms of 5 years The Entity does not enter into sale and leaseback arrangements. The entity does not enter into agreements for the sale and return of leased facilities. All leases are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide variety of terms and conditions such as payment terms, contract termination and escalation clauses.

The Entity assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. A lease conveys the right to direct the use and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Some leases may contain both lease and non-lease components.

Some lease contracts contain both lease and non-lease components. These non-lease components are usually associated with facilities management services at offices and servicing and repair contracts in respect of motor vehicles. The Entity has elected to not its leases for offices into lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these contracts as a single lease component. For its other leases, the lease components are split into their lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Entity recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in its consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Entity, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Entity depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Entity also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the Entity measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the Entity's incremental borrowing rate because as the lease contracts are negotiated with third parties it is not possible to determine the interest rate that is implicit in the lease. The incremental borrowing rate is the estimated rate that the Entity would have to pay to borrow the same amount over a similar term, and with similar security to obtain an asset of equivalent value. This rate is adjusted should the lessee entity have a different risk profile to that of the Entity. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced by lease payments that are allocated between repayments of principal and finance costs. The finance cost is the amount that produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

The lease liability is reassessed when there is a change in the lease payments. Changes in lease payments arising from a change in the lease term or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase a leased asset. The revised lease payments are discounted using the Entity's incremental borrowing rate at the date of reassessment when the rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability is reflected as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset. The exception being when the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero then any excess is recognized in profit or loss.

4.6 Leased assets (continued)

Payments under leases can also change when there is either a change in the amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees or when future payments change through an index or a rate used to determine those payments, including changes in market rental rates following a market rent review. The lease liability is remeasured only when the adjustment to lease payments takes effect and the revised contractual payments for the remainder of the lease term are discounted using an unchanged discount rate, except for where the change in lease payments results from a change in floating interest rates, in which case the discount rate is amended to reflect the change in interest rates.

To respond to business needs particularly in the demand for office space, the Entity will enter into negotiations with landlords to either increase or decrease available office space or to renegotiate amounts payable under the respective leases. In some instances, the Entity is able to increase office capacity by taking additional floors available and therefore agrees with the landlord to pay an amount that is commensurate with the standalone pricing adjusted to reflect the particular contract terms. In these situations, the contractual agreement is treated as a new lease and accounted for accordingly.

In other cases, the Entity is able to negotiate a change to a lease agreement, such as reducing the amount of office space, reducing the term of the lease or reducing the total amount payable for the lease. These components were not part of the original lease terms. In these situations, the Entity does not consider them.

Instead, revised contractual payments are discounted using a revised discount rate at the date the lease is effectively modified. For the reasons explained above, the discount rate is the Entity's debt rate determined on the modification date, since the rate implied in the lease is not easy to determine. Re-measurement of the lease liability entails a reduction in the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect the full or partial termination of the lease for those modifications to it that reduce the scope of the lease.

Any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease is recognized in profit or loss. The rightof-use asset is adjusted for all other lease modifications.

The Entity has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. These leases relate to items of office equipment such as desks, chairs, and certain IT equipment. Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

As a lessor the Entity classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

Accounting of operating leases by the Entity as lessee before January 1, 2020

When the Entity is a lessee in a lease that does not transfer substantially all the incidental risks and rewards from the lessee to the Entity, operating lease payments are recognized as income or loss on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease (lease expense). Leases included in other arrangements are separated if (a) performance of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and (b) the contract conveys a right to use the asset.

4.7 Other borrowed funds

Other borrowed funds include loans taken from the parent entity and other financial entity.

4.8 Income Taxes

Income taxes have been provided for in the financial statements in accordance with legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The income tax liability comprises current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in profit or loss for the year, except if it is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity because it relates to transactions that are also recognised, in the same or a different period, in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

4.8 Income Taxes (continued)

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to, or recovered from, the taxation authorities in respect of taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxable profits or losses are based on estimates if the financial statements are authorised prior to filing relevant tax returns. Taxes other than on income are recorded within administrative and other operating expenses.

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards and temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse, or the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised.

Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductions can be utilised.

Uncertain tax positions. The Entity's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at the end of each reporting period. Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by management as more likely than not to result in additional taxes being levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities. The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any known court or other rulings on such issues.

Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are recognised based on management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the end of the reporting period.

4.9 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

4.10 Interest income and expense recognition

Interest income and expense are recorded for all debt instruments, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. This method defers, as part of interest income or expense, all fees paid or received between the parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Fees integral to the effective interest rate include origination fees received or paid by the entity relating to the creation or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability, for example fees for evaluating creditworthiness, evaluating and recording guarantees or collateral, negotiating the terms of the instrument and for processing transaction documents.

For financial assets that are originated or purchased credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is the rate that discounts the expected cash flows (including the initial expected credit losses) to the fair value on initial recognition (normally represented by the purchase price). As a result, the effective interest is credit-adjusted.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial assets, except for (i) financial assets that have become credit impaired (Stage 3), for which interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their AC, net of the ECL provision, and (ii) financial assets that are purchased or originated credit impaired, for which the original credit-adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the AC.

4.11 Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is recognised over time on a straight-line basis as the services are rendered, when the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Entity's performance. Such income includes early repayment fee, contract termination fee, processing fee, penalty fee and extension fee.

Other fee and commission income is recognised at a point in time when the Entity satisfies its performance obligation, usually upon execution of the underlying transaction. The amount of fee or commission received, or receivable represents the transaction price for the services identified as distinct performance obligations.

4.12 Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Entity is the national currency of Albania ("ALL").

Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into national currency at the official exchange rate at the end of the respective reporting period. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities into each entity's functional currency at year-end official exchange rates, are recognised in profit or loss for the year (as foreign exchange translation gains less losses). Translation at year-end rates does not apply to non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency, including equity investments, are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Effects of exchange rate changes on non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are recorded as part of the fair value gain or loss.

At 31 December 2022, the principal rate of exchange used for translating foreign currency balances was:

	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Euro (EUR)	114.23	120.76

4.13 Staff costs and related contributions

Wages, salaries, contributions and social insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Entity. The Entity has no legal or constructive obligation to make pension or similar benefit payments beyond the compensation in employment agreement. During pandemic lock-down and moratorium, the Entity took measures for a change in structure, which effected the review of monthly salaries and termination of employment contract.

4.14 Presentation of statement of financial position in order of liquidity

The Entity does not have a clearly identifiable operating cycle and therefore does not present current and noncurrent assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position. Instead, assets and liabilities are presented in order of their liquidity. Refer to Note 20 for analysis of financial instruments by their maturity.

4.14 Presentation of statement of financial position in order of liquidity (continued)

The following table provides information on amounts expected to be recovered or settled before and after twelve months after the reporting period for items that are not analysed in Note 7.

31	December 202	22	31	December 202	21
Amounts ex	or settled	ecovered	Amounts ex	cpected to be r or settled	ecovered
Within 12 months after the reporting period	After 12 months after the reporting period	Total	Within 12 months after the reporting period	After 12 months after the reporting period	Total
-	85,631	85,631	-	90,908	90,908
1,842	21,170	23,012	8,376	18,362	26,738
-	74,904	74,904	-	50,485	50,485
66,466	5 7,401	7,401 73,867	74,052	62 45,608	119,660
218,830	-	218,830	131,807	-	131,807
	Amounts ex Within 12 months after the reporting period	Amounts expected to be r or settled Within After 12 months 12 months after the after the reporting period period - 85,631 1,842 21,170 - 74,904 66,466 7,401	WithinAfter 12 months12 months12 months after the after the reporting periodTotal Total-85,63185,6311,84221,17023,012-74,90474,90466,4667,40173,867	Amounts expected to be recovered or settledAmounts expected to be recovered or settledWithinAfterWithin12 months12 monthsafter the after the reporting reporting periodTotal after the reporting period-85,63185,631-85,63185,631-74,90474,904-74,90474,052	Amounts expected to be recovered or settledAmounts expected to be r or settledWithinAfteror settledWithinAfter12 months12 months12 months12 monthsafter the reportingafter the periodTotalafter the reportingreporting periodreporting period-85,63185,631-90,9081,84221,17023,0121,84221,17023,0128,376-74,90474,904-50,48566,4667,40173,86774,05245,608

4.15 Transactions with peer-to-peer platforms

The Entity, as a loan originator, has signed cooperation agreement with operator of a peer-to-peer (P2P) investment internet-based platform (Mintos Marketplace AS, hereinafter "Mintos"). Cooperation agreement and the related assignment agreements are in force until parties agree to terminate. Purpose of the cooperation agreement for the Entity is to attract funding through the P2P platform.

P2P platform makes possible for individual and corporate investors to obtain rights a fully proportionate interest cash flows and the principal cash flows from debt instruments (loans and advances to customers) issued by the Entity in exchange for an upfront payment. These rights are established through assignment agreements between investors and Mintos, who is acting as an agent on behalf of the Entity.

The Entity retains the legal title to its debt instruments (including payment collection) but transfers a part of equitable title and interest to investors through Mintos.

Mintos receivables and payables

Mintos is acting as an agent in transferring cash flows between the Entity and investors. Receivable for attracted funding from investors through P2P platform corresponds to the due payments from Mintos.

Receivable is arising from assignments made through P2P platform where the related investment is not yet transferred to the Entity (Note 11).

Funding attracted through peer-to-peer platform

Liabilities arising from assignments are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received from investors net of issue costs associated with the loan.

Liabilities to investors are recognized in statement of financial position caption Funding attracted through peerto-peer platform (Note 11) and are treated as loans received.

After initial recognition, Funding attracted through peer-to-peer platform is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is calculated by considering any issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss as interest income/ expense when the liabilities are derecognized.

4.15 Transactions with peer-to-peer platforms (Continued)

The Entity has to repay to the investors the proportionate share of the attracted funding for each debt instrument according to the conditions of the respective individual agreement with Entity's client, which can be up to 24 months, with instalments or in a lump sum.

Assignments with recourse rights (buy back guarantee)

Assignments with recourse rights provide for direct recourse to the Entity, thus do not meet the requirements to be classified as pass-through arrangement in accordance with IAS 39.

Therefore, the Entity's respective debt instruments do not qualify to be considered for partial derecognition and interest expense paid to investors is shown in gross amount under Interest and similar expenses.

5 Significant accounting estimates and judgments in the application of accounting policies

The Entity makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements, and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

a) ECL measurement

Measurement of ECLs is a significant estimate that involves determination of methodology, models and data inputs. The following components have a major impact on credit loss allowance: definition of default, SICR, probability of default ("PD"), exposure at default ("EAD"), and loss given default ("LGD"). The Entity regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models to reduce any differences between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss experience.

b) Determination of lease term

The Entity leases office buildings and commercial real estate from third parties under contracts which do not have contractual maturity dates and are automatically renewed unless either party submits a termination notice of 3 months. The Entity determines non-cancellable lease period for such leases, taking into consideration penalties that would be incurred upon termination, including economic disincentives such as leasehold improvements, cost of relocating or the importance of the premises to the Entity's operations. As a result, the lease term for most significant office buildings has been determined as a period of 2-3 years.

6 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 2022, and 2021 are presented as follows:

In thousands of Albanian ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Cash on hand	25,851	17,055
Cash in bank in ALL	38,848	53,184
Cash in Bank in EUR	14,147	534
Total cash and cash equivalents	78,846	70,773

Cash at banks in ALL and EUR is kept in current accounts. For the purpose of ECL measurement cash and cash equivalents balances are included in Stage 1. The ECL for these balances represents an insignificant amount, therefore the Entity did not recognise any credit loss allowance for cash and cash equivalents.

6 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued)

The Entity's cash and cash equivalents are placed with financial institutions rated as follows.

Rating	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
AA	34,877	41,473
B+	371	628
BBB	17,747	11,617
Total	52,995	53,718

The Entity operates with local banks which are mainly subsidiaries of international banking groups.

Accounts with banks are not secured. Because few Albanian banks are rated by international rating agencies, the Reporting Entity uses the credit ratings of the banks' major shareholders in order to take its investment decisions as well as the Bank of Albania quarterly reports on the banks that operate in the Albanian market.

7 Loans and Advances to Customers

In thousands of ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Amount of loans and advances to customers	3,452,228	2,449,387
Interest receivable	646,813	359,938
Less credit loss allowance	(775,322)	(510,568)
Total loans and advances to customers	3,323,719	2,298,757

The Entity holds a portfolio of loans to customers, which based on their business model meet the SPPI requirement for AC classification under IFRS 9.

Loan amount and credit loss allowance amount for loans and advances to customers by classes at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are disclosed in the table below:

Credit loss allowance movement:

2022
264,753
463,080
(36,553)
691,280

Total credit loss allowance	445,218
Recoveries	(40,418)
Write-off expense	586,007
Net changes	(100,371)
In thousands of ALL	2021

The credit loss allowance for loans and advances to customers recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors. Below main movements in the table are described:

- Transfers between Stage 1, 2 and 3 due to balances experiencing significant increases (or decreases)
 of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent "step up" (or "step down")
 between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;
- Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases for financial instruments derecognised in the period;
- Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes to model assumptions, including changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising from update of inputs to ECL models;
- Unwinding of discount due to the passage of time because ECL is measured on a present value basis;
- Foreign exchange translations of assets denominated in foreign currencies and other movements; and
- Write-offs of allowances related to assets that were written off during the period.

The following tables contain analyses of the credit risk exposure of loans and advances to customers measured at AC and for which an ECL allowance is recognised. The carrying amount of loans and advances to customers below also represents the Entity's maximum exposure to credit risk on these loans.

Classification of loans and advances to customers in long term and short term

In thousands of ALL	31 December 2022
Long term	872,666
Long term loans due from customers	981,241
Impairment of long-term loans due from customers	(108,575)
Short term	2,451,053
Short term loans due from customers	3,117,800
Impairment of short-term loans due from customers	(666,747)
Net carrying amount of receivables due from customers	3,323,719
Net carrying amount of receivables due from customers In thousands of ALL	3,323,719 31 December 2021
In thousands of ALL	31 December 2021
In thousands of ALL	31 December 2021 556,970
<i>In thousands of ALL</i> Long term Long term loans due from customers	31 December 2021 556,970 614,357
In thousands of ALL Long term Long term loans due from customers Impairment of long-term loans due from customers	31 December 2021 556,970 614,357 (57,386)
In thousands of ALL Long term Long term loans due from customers Impairment of long-term loans due from customers Short term	31 December 2021 556,970
In thousands of ALL Long term Long term loans due from customers Impairment of long-term loans due from customers	31 December 2021 556,970 614,357 (57,386) 1,741,787

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for the respective period are as follows:

In thousands of ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Opening balance 01January	510,568	610,940
Origination	422,210	383,381
Repayment	(139,507)	(159,709)
Charges	301,633	73,857
Releases	(17,859)	(19,176)
Write-offs	(301,723)	(378,724)
Balance at 31 December	775,322	510,569

Details of loans receivables and prepayments from customers according to loan type on 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

		31 D	December 2022
In thousands of ALL	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Carrying amount
SPL loans	399,472	(83,486)	315,986
INSTA loans	3,699,568	(691,835)	3,007,733
Total net receivables due from customers	4,099,040	(775,321)	3,323,719

		31 E	ecember 2021
In thousands of ALL	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Carrying amount
SPL loans	393,007	(89,312)	303,695
INSTA loans	2,416,319	(421,257)	1,995,062
Total net receivables due from customers	2,809,326	(510,569)	2,298,757

	31 December 2022				31 December 2021	
In thousands of ALL	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Carrying amount	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Carrying amount
Stage 1	3,356,011	(275,596)	3,080,415	2,368,561	(207,060)	2,161,500
Stage 2	147,769	(87,666)	60,103	84,757	(51,710)	33,047
Stage 3	595,260	(412,059)	183,201	356,008	(251,798)	104,210
Total net receivables due from customers	4,099,040	(775,321)	3,323,719	2,809,326	(510,568)	2,298,757

SPL loans

	31 December 2022			31 December 2021		
In thousands of ALL	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Carrying amount	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Carrying amount
Stage 1	296,612	(17,760)	278,852	293,488	(24,655)	268,833
Stage 2	17,852	(10,986)	6,866	18,782	(11,672)	7,110
Stage 3	85,008	(54,739)	30,269	80,736	(52,985)	27,751
Total net receivables due from customers	399,472	(83,485)	315,987	393,006	(89,312)	303,694

INSTA Loans

		31 December 2022				31 December 2021	
In thousands of ALL	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Carrying amount	Gross carrying amount	Credit Ioss aliowance	Carrying amount	
Stage 1	3,059,399	(257,836)	2,801,563	2,075,072	(182,406)	1,892,666	
Stage 2	129,917	(76,679)	53,238	65,974	(40,038)	25,936	
Stage 3	510,252	(357,320)	152,932	275,272	(198,813)	76,459	

Total net receivables due from

customers 3,699,568 (691,835) 3,007,733 2,416,318 (421,257) 1,995,061

Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio are as follows:

	31 Dec	ember 2022	31 December 2021		
In thousands of Albanian ALL	Amount	%	Amount	%	
Individuals	3,323,719	100	2,298,757	100	
Total loans and advances to customers carried at AC and at FVTPL	3,3s23,719	100	2,298,757	100	

At 31 December 2022 the Entity had 41,147 borrowers (2021: 39,352 borrowers).

The Entity's policy regarding collateral is that the portfolio is not collateralized.

The following tables disclose the changes in the credit loss allowance and gross carrying amount for loans and advances to customers carried at amortised cost between the beginning and the end of the reporting and comparative periods.

	Gro	ss carrying amount		
Gross loans & advances to customers	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
Balance at 1 January 2022	2,007,268,156	2,007,268,156	2,007,268,156	2.007.268.156
Transfers to stage 1	303,521,353	(2,413,703)	(301,107,650)	-,,,,,,,,,,,,,-
Transfers to stage 2	(44,316,188)	58,482,867	(14,166,679)	-
Transfers to stage 3	(256,826,393)	(3,932,758)	260,759,151	-
New originated or purchased	2,064,018,966	105,609,848	274,410,134	2,444,038,948
Receivables paid	(844,326,019)	(16,918,532)	(186,139,242)	(1,047,383,793)
Write off	(35,081,672)	(53,433,801)	(331,358,138)	(419,873,611)
Receivables partially paid	183,975,325	4,292,723	154,106,550	342.374.598
Changes from exchange rate		,	-	
Balance at 31 December 2022	3,378,233,528	167,873,107	576,421,617	4,122,528,252

	Gro	ss carrying amount		
Provision	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
Balance at 1 January 2022	(162,480,618)	(45,082,011)	(286,595,318)	(494,157,947)
Transfers to stage 1	(24,264,898)	1,340,239	22,924,659	(****,***,****)
Transfers to stage 2	3,796,982	(5,167,829)	1.370.847	-
Transfers to stage 3	22,031,565	2,195,293	(24,226,858)	-
New originated or purchased	(158,089,034)	(60,623,007)	(189,913,044)	(408,625,085)
Receivables paid	66,196,711	9,890,276	37,594,539	113.681.526
Write off	9,949,603	31,937,683	231,760,413	273,647,699
Receivables partially paid	(33,867,290)	(34,128,260)	(191,871,423)	(259,866,973)
Changes from exchange rate	-	-		(,000,010)
Balance at 31 December 2022	(276,726,979)	(99,637,616)	(398,956,185)	(775,320,780)

The above values are net of effect from forborne commissions that are included in amortization cost.

The following tables provide a summary of the Company's forborne exposures as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

				31 December	2022				
	Performing Portfolio		ortfolio	Non-Perfor		~			
Loans & advances to customers	Gross carrying amount	Modification to T&Cs	efinancing	Total performing forborne loans	Modification to T&Cs	efinancing	Total non- performing forborne loans	Total Forborne Ioans	Forbearanc e
Personal						-			
loans	4,099,040	3,547		3,547	2,405		2,405	5.952	0.1%
Total	4,099,040	3,547		3,547	2,405		2,405	5,952	0.1%

				31 December	2021				
		Performing Portfolio			Non-Perfor	Non-Performing Portfolio			
Loans & advances to customers	Gross carrying amount	Modification to T&Cs	efinancing	Total performing forborne loans	Modification to T&Cs	efinancing	Total non- performing forborne loans	Total Forborne Ioans	Forbearance e
Personal	<u>}</u>								
loans	2,809,325	5,551	0	5,551	7,337	0	7,337	12,888	0.5%
Total	2,809,325	5,551	0	5,551	7,337	0	7,337	12,888	0.5%

			31 Dece	mber 2022	2			
Loans & advances to	Gross amount of forborne loans							ECL allowance
customers	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
Consumer loans Total	2,947 2,947	600 600	2,405 2,405	5,952 5,952	(277) (277)	(362) (362)	(1,685) (1,685)	(2,324) (2,324)

			31 Dece	mber 2021				
Loans & advances to	Gross amount of forborne loans							ECL allowance
customers	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
Consumer loans	4,942	609	7,337	12,888	(637)	(372)	(5,300)	(6,310)
Total	4,942	609	7,337	12,888	(637)	(372)	(5,300)	(6,310)

8 Other Assets

In thousands of Albanian ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Deposit to banks	36,565	38,643
Future period expenses	13,931	4,020
Receivable from sold portfolio	11,494	64,677
Rent prepayment	8,552	8,356
Receivable from related parties	1,887	-
Other assets	1,269	1,411
Receivable from P2P platform	169	-
Loans to related parties	-	2,553
Total other assets	73,867	119,660

Other prepayments represent annual prepayments made for cash and staff insurance, annual service fees, other prepayments to suppliers, etc. All of the above assets are expected to be recovered more than twelve months after the year-end, except for prepayments for services of ALL 15,199 thousand (2021: ALL 5,431 thousand). Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 22.

Deposit to banks represents the deposit to Tirana Bank of 320,000 Eur as financial collateral for the loan signed on 23.12.2021 in Note 11.

Kredo Finance sh.p.k. Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2022

9 Premises and Equipment

In thousands of Albanian ALL	Electronic equipment	Office Equipment	Leasehold Improvements	Right of use	Total
Cost at 1 January 2020	15,451	22,737	8,084	27,706	73,978
Additions	1,425	337	1,942	-	3,704
Depreciation charge	(11,684)	(7,244)	(3,170)	(16,547)	(38,645)
Other	-	(1,141)	-	39,327	38,186
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021	5,192	14,689	6,856	50,486	77,223
Cost at 31 December 2021	51,061	37,025	21,422	125,689	235,197
Accumulated depreciation	(45,869)	(22,336)	(14,566)	(75,203)	(157,974)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021	5,192	14,689	6,856	50,486	77,223
Additions	9,134	738	3,311	87,432	100,615
Depreciation charge	(5,604)	(6,791)	(4,206)	(63,014)	(79,615)
Other	•	(307)	-	-	(307)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022	8,722	8,329	5,961	74,904	97,916
Cost at 31 December 2022	60.196	37.763	24.734	237,224	359,917
Accumulated depreciation	(51,474)	(29,434)	(18,773)	(162,320)	(262,001)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022	8,722	8,329	5,961	74,904	97,916

Kredo Finance sh.p.k. Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2022

10 Intangible Assets

Total borrowed funds

In thousands of Albanian ALL	Acquired software licences	Tota
Cost at 1 January 2021	68,673	68,673
Accumulated depreciation	(22,428)	(22,428)
Carrying amount at 1 January 2021	46,245	46,245
Additions	68,677	68,677
Depreciation charge	(24,014)	(24,014)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021	90,908	90,908
Cost at 31 December 2021	137,350	137,350
Accumulated depreciation	(46,442)	(46,442)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021	90,908	90,908
Additions	25,773	25,773
Depreciation charge	(31,050)	(31,050)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022	85,631	85,631
Cost at 31 December 2022	163,123	163,123
Accumulated depreciation	(77,492)	(77,492)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022	85,631	85,631
1 Borrowed Funds		
.ong-term borrowings		
In thousands of ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Business loan from related parties	587,214	845,320
Long-term liabilities P2P platform investors	257,730	60,987
Borrowings from banks	-	65,667
Total borrowed funds	844,944	971,974
Short-term borrowings		
In thousands of ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Business loan from related parties	-	
Long-term liabilities P2P platform investors	887,722	508,190
Borrowings from banks	65,726	32,923

953,448

541,113

11 Other Borrowed Funds (Continued)

Business loan from related parties is a credit line at the interest rate of 13%.

Long-term liabilities P2P is related with AS Mintos Marketplace financements. AS Mintos Marketplace is a marketplace for loans, where different investors from around the world could finance for specific loans.

Borrowing from banks refers to loan received from Tirana Bank, where 60% is with government guarantee under the program for business support affected from pandemic Covid 19.

Changes on borrowed funds are mainly related with Liabilities P2P platform investors.

In thousands of ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Business loan from related parties, 13% p.a., 04.10.2020	(258,107)	845,320
Loan from Tirana bank, 4.6757% p.a., 24.12.2021	(32,863)	98,590
Liabilities P2P platform investors	(576,274)	(202,264)
Change of liabilities P2P platform investors	(867,244)	741,646

12 Other Liabilities

Other liabilities comprise the following:

In thousands of Albanian ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Accrued expenses	100,769	30,765
Lease liabilities	76,675	51,628
Taxes payable	64,724	27,191
Accounts payable	31,039	49,493
Deferred income	16,390	16,632
Other liabilities	5,909	7,726
Total other liabilities	295,506	183,435

13 Share Capital

As of December 31, 2022, the paid-in and registered capital of the Entity amounts to ALL 508,936 (31.12.2021 ALL 508,936). The Entity's paid-in capital is 100% owned by AS Eleving Consumer Finance Holding, from Riga, Latvia. The share purchase agreement is approved from Bank of Albania on 17 February 2021.

As of the date of approval of these financial statements, the Entity is represented and managed by Arlinda Muja.

In thousands of ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Paid-in capital	508,936	508,936
Total paid-in capital	508,936	508,936

14 Interest Income and Expense

In thousands of Albanian ALL	2022	2021
Interest on Loans and advances to customers	1,878,040	1,089,027
Extension Fees	407,536	253,179
Total interest income	2,285,576	1,342,206
Interest and other similar expense Other borrowed funds	(104 042)	
	(194,043)	(101,013)
P2P interest expense Interest expense from lease liabilities	(194,043) (22,787) (4,062)	(101,013) (24,653) (2,534)

15 Fee and Commission Income and Expense

In thousands of Albanian ALL	2022	2021
Fines and collection fees	176,523	178,643
Early repayment fees	4,316	1,851
Other fees	8,058	1,374
Total fee and commission income	188,897	181,868

16 Other operational income

In thousands of Albanian ALL	2022	2021
Revenues from sale of write off portfolio	42,333	244,015
Revenues from recoveries of write off loans	37,969	28,812
Revenues from interest on loans to related parties	-	7,675
Provision of other assets	(29,403)	(42,656)
Total revenues from other operating income	50,899	237,846

17 Salaries and related taxes

In thousands of Albanian ALL	2022	2021
Salaries	217,604	161,280
Taxes for salaries	31,560	22,391
Other salaries cost	3,184	5,741
Total salaries and related taxes	252,348	189,412

Other salaries cost reflects the expense for bonus accrual and vacation reserve for unpaid holidays on last 3year period.

18 Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Total administrative and other operating expenses	360.191	324.518
IT costs	44,600	18,477
Rent and similar	42,670	18,875
Other operating costs	18,122	30,729
Communication and data costs	54,691	43,088
Advertising, marketing	20,778	52,970
Professional services	179,330	160,379
In thousands of Albanian ALL	2022	2021

19 Income Taxes

(a) Components of income tax

Income tax for the year is 163,949 thousand of Albanian ALL, which comprises the following:

2022	2021
163,949	106,794
11,333	3,457
152,616	103,337
	163,949 11,333

19 Income Taxes (Continued)

The reconciliation of effective income tax rate is summarized as follows:

	2022	2021
Income before income tax	909,310	909,310
Non-deductible expenses	183,684	141,672
Fiscal Income	1,092,994	711,961
Carried forward loss	-	-
Total Fiscal Income	1,092,994	711,961
Income tax expense	163,949	106,794
Income of the year	929,045	605,142

(b) Reconciliation between the tax expense and profit or loss multiplied by applicable tax rate

The income tax rate applicable to the Entity in 2022 income is 15% (2021: 15%). A reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below.

In thousands of Albanian Lek	2022	2021	
Profit/(loss) before tax	1,092,994	711,961	
Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate (2022: 15%; 2021: 15%)			
Profit before tax	909,310	570,289	
Loss transferred from previous periods	-	-	
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for			
taxation purposes:			
 Income which is exempt from taxation 	-	-	
- Non-deductible expenses	200,219	157,082	
Financing costs	110,795	71,317	
Provision	29,403	42,656	
Accrued Foreign exchange effect	33,657	13,534	
Accrued Salaries and related taxes	2,875	5,191	
Depreciation and amortization	48,068	38,732	
Other operating costs	7,651	6,609	
Other	(32,229)	(20,958)	
Accrued expenses as end 2021	(16,536)	(15,410)	
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year	163,949	106,794	

(c) Tax loss carry forwards

The Entity does not have unrecognised potential deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax loss carry forwards.

(d) Deferred taxes

The Entity has not recorded a deferred tax liability in respect of temporary differences.

20 Financial Risk Management

The risk management function within the Entity is carried out with respect to financial risks, operational risks and legal risks. Financial risk comprises market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The primary function of financial risk management is to establish risk limits and to ensure that any exposure to risk stays within these limits. The operational and legal risk management functions are intended to ensure the proper functioning of internal policies and procedures in order to minimise operational and legal risks.

a) Credit risk

Credit Risk Measurement

Credit risk arises from money and cash, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as from credit exposure to corporate and retail clients, including receivables and liabilities. The exposure of the Entity to credit risk arises from the inability to collect the placements and receivables in a timely manner. The Entity has no significant concentration of credit risk. The Entity has policies to ensure that service sales are made to customers with adequate credit history and pre-defined criteria that ensure a regular collection of receivables.

Risk Limitation Controls and Management Policy

The Entity applies limits and controls for areas and items where a large concentration of credit risk is identified and in particular to individual customers or group of customers, trade counterparts, industries and regions, which are formed on the basis of the geographical regions in the countries where the entity operates.

Maximum Credit Risk Exposure

The maximum credit risk exposure equals the carrying amount of Cash and cash equivalents and Loans and advances to customers in Statement of Financial Position.

Expected credit loss (ECL) measurement.

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of future cash shortfalls (i.e., the weighted average of credit losses, with the respective risks of default occurring in a given time period used as weights). An ECL measurement is unbiased and is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes. ECL measurement is based on four components used by the Entity: Probability of Default ("PD"), Exposure at Default ("EAD"), Loss Given Default ("LGD") and Discount Rate.

EAD is an estimate of exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting period, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected drawdowns on committed facilities (if any). PD an estimate of the likelihood of default to occur over a given time period. LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. The expected losses are discounted to present value at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate represents the effective interest rate ("EIR") for the financial instrument or an approximation thereof.

Expected credit losses are modelled over instrument's *lifetime period*. The *lifetime period* is equal to the remaining contractual period to maturity of debt instruments, adjusted for expected prepayments, if any.

Management models *Lifetime ECL*, that is, losses that result from all possible default events over the remaining lifetime period of the financial instrument. The *12-month ECL*, represents a portion of lifetime ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period, or remaining *lifetime period* of the financial instrument if it is less than a year.

The ECL modelling does not differ for Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired ("POCI") financial assets, except that (a) gross carrying value and discount rate are based on cash flows that were recoverable at initial recognition of the asset, rather than based on contractual cash flows, and (b) the ECL is always a lifetime ECL. POCI assets are financial assets that are credit-impaired upon initial recognition, such as impaired loans acquired in a past business combination.

a) Credit Risk (Continued)

For purposes of measuring PD, the Entity defines default as a situation when the exposure meets one or more of the following criteria:

- the borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments;
- the Entity has sold the borrower's debt or its portion at a loss due to credit deterioration;
- the borrower meets the unlikeliness-to-pay criteria listed below:
 - the Entity was forced to restructure the debt;
 - the borrower is deceased/insolvent;
 - the borrower was classified in risk categories according to "Regulation on the procedure for making loan loss provisions and provisions for loan debts and similar debts by credit institutions";
 - the loans were purchased or originated at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

For purposes of disclosure, the Entity fully aligned the definition of default with the definition of credit-impaired assets. The default definition stated above is applied to all types of financial assets of the Entity.

An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the default criteria.

The assessment whether or not there has been a significant increase in credit risk ("SICR") since initial recognition is performed on a portfolio basis. The presumption, being that there have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition when financial assets are more than 30 days past due on report date.

The level of ECL that is recognised in these financial statements depends on whether the credit risk of the borrower has increased significantly since initial recognition. This is a three-stage model for ECL measurement. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition and its credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition has a credit loss allowance based on 12-month ECLs (Stage 1). If a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 2 but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired and the loss allowance is based on lifetime ECLs. If a financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 3 and loss allowance is based on lifetime ECLs. The consequence of an asset being in Stage 3 is that the entity ceases to recognise interest income based on gross carrying value and applies the asset's effective interest rate to the carrying amount, net of ECL, when calculating interest income.

If there is evidence that the SICR criteria are no longer met, the instrument is transferred back to Stage 1.

ECL for POCI financial assets is always measured on a lifetime basis. The Entity therefore only recognises the cumulative changes in lifetime expected credit losses.

The Entity measures ECL on a portfolio basis. The Entity determines the staging of the exposures and measures the loss allowance on a collective basis. The Entity analyses its exposures by segments determined on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics, such that exposures within a group have homogeneous or similar risks. The different segments also reflect differences in credit risk parameters such as PD and LGD. The appropriateness of groupings is monitored and reviewed on a periodic basis.

The key principles of calculating the credit risk parameters

The EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, that varies by product type. EAD is based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower over a 12-month or lifetime basis for amortising products and bullet repayment loans. This will also be adjusted for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early repayment or refinancing assumptions are also incorporated into the calculation.

a) Credit Risk (Continued)

Two types of PDs are used for calculating ECLs: 12-month and lifetime PD. An assessment of a 12-month PD is based on the latest available historic default data and adjusted for supportable forward-looking information when appropriate. Lifetime PDs represent the estimated probability of a default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument and it is a sum of the 12 months PDs over the life of the instrument. For prudency reasons, the Entity applies minimum 12-month PD when remaining lifetime of the loan is less than 12. For every delinquency group PD is calculated by using Transition matrices (TM) which analyses the movement between the delinquency buckets in one-year period up to the reporting date.

LGD represents the Entity's expectation of what percentage of its outstanding defaulted loan amount it would not be possible to recover and thus this amount is considered as irrecoverable. It is calculated based on historical recovery of all defaulted loans and discounted using weighted average EIR for each of segments.

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model

The Entity estimates the impact of changing macro indicators over time and applies corrective factor to PD as the result of forward-looking adjustment. Only adverse effects of macroeconomic environment are incorporated in PD adjustments (i.e. no improvement in PD due to positive economic outlook is allowed).

b) Market risk

The Entity's activities are exposed primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Market risk exposures are supplemented by sensitivity analysis. There has been no change to the Entity's exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

c) Currency risk

In respect of currency risk, management sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total, which are monitored monthly.

Currency risk is monitored on monthly basis to address the regulatory requirements for EUR currency and total foreign currency exposures.

to the surger of all	2022			2021
In thousands of ALL	Euro	ALL	Euro	ALL
Assets				
Cash and cash equivalents	14,146	64,700	5,302	65,471
Loans and advances to customers	-	3,323,719	-	2,298,757
Other assets	42,737	31,130	43,114	76,546
Total assets	56,883	3,419,549	48,416	2,440,774
Liabilities				
Debt securities in issue	1,732,666	65,726	1,414,498	98,589
Other liabilities	17,165	201,666	27,155	104,653
Total liabilities	1,749,831	267,392	1,441,653	203,242
Currency gap	(1,692,948)	3,152,157	(1,393,237)	2,237,532

c) Currency risk (continued)

For complying with the currency gap for regulatory requirements, the Entity has in place a forward nondeliverable contract that mitigates the large exposure due to other borrowed funds. The application of this contract results with a net gap below regulatory threshold. There are no outstanding open contract as at reporting date.

Sensitivity analysis for the year ended 31 December 2022:

	Impact	Amount
EUR increases by 10% against ALL	Loss	(169,091)
EUR decreases by 10% against ALL	Gain	169,091

Sensitivity analysis for the year ended 31 December 2021:

	Impact	Amount
EUR increases by 10% against ALL	Loss	(139,324)
EUR decreases by 10% against ALL	Gain	139,324

d) Interest rate risk

The Entity takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. Management monitors on a daily basis and sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken.

The Entity monitors interest rates for its financial instruments. The table below summarises interest rates at the respective reporting date based on reports reviewed by key management personnel.

For securities, the interest rates represent yields to maturity based on market quotations at the reporting date:

In thousands of ALL	Demand and less than 1 month	From 1 to 6 months	From 6 to 12 months	More than 1 year	Non- monetary	Total
31 December 2022						
Total financial assets	873,713	997,389	579,952	872,666	152,712	3,476,432
Total financial liabilities	324,656	405,745	232,233	836,289	185,907	1,984,830
Net interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2022	549,057	591,644	347,719	36,377	(33,195)	1,491,602
31 December 2021						
Total financial assets	606,781	730,212	404,794	556,970	190,433	2,489,190
Total financial liabilities	228,304	90,523	88,248	1,106,011	131,807	1,644,893
Net interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2021	378,477	639,689	316,546	(549,041)	58,626	844,297

d) Interest rate risk

Sensitivity analysis for the year ended 31 December 2022:

	Impact	Amount
Interest rate increases by 10%	Gain	258
Interest rate decreases by 10%	Loss	(258)

Sensitivity analysis for the year ended 31 December 2021:

	Impact	Amount
Interest rate increases by 10%	Gain	214
Interest rate decreases by 10%	Loss	(214)

e) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Entity is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they become due. The Entity is exposed to liquidity risk arising from objective mismatch of the maturities of its assets and liabilities.

The Entity follows the general principles of the Group's liquidity policy and the Entity's management approves liquidity assessments and management procedures, determines liquidity requirements and sets the necessary minimum cash levels and liquid assets and maturity mismatches.

The main objective of Entity's liquidity risk management is to secure stable growth of its loan portfolio and to manage liquid efficiency by ensuring funds for the needs of its credit products and maintaining a minimum surplus of cash.

The Entity's management estimates that the matching and the controlled mismatching of undiscounted cash flows and risk of change in the interest rate are significant for maximizing the return. It is usual for companies operating in consumer financing area to have good matching in cash flows in short-term periods due to the quick liquidity. The mismatching in cash flows and lack of surplus in cash potentially leads to increase in profitability, but also to increase in risk of loss. The mismatching of cash flows with surplus of cash decreases profitability due to the inefficient use of funds, but at the same time leads to stability in liquidity.

The liquidity management of the Entity requires consideration of the level of liquid assets necessary to settle obligations as they fall due; maintaining access to a range of funding sources; maintaining plans for funding concentration; and monitoring liquidity ratios against regulatory requirements. The Entity calculates liquidity ratios on a monthly basis in accordance with the requirement of the Central Bank of Albania.

The table below shows liabilities at 31 December 2022 by their remaining contractual maturity. The amounts of liabilities disclosed in the maturity table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including gross finance lease obligations (before deducting future finance charges), gross loan commitments and financial guarantees. Such undiscounted cash flows differ from the amount included in the statement of financial position because the amount in the statement of financial position is based on discounted cash flows.

The table below shows the maturity analysis of non-derivative financial assets at their carrying amounts and based on their contractual maturities, except for assets that are readily saleable if it should be necessary to meet cash outflows on financial liabilities. Such financial assets are included in the maturity analysis based on their expected date of disposal. Impaired loans are included at their carrying amounts net of impairment provisions, and based on the expected timing of cash inflows.

When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to the conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. Foreign currency payments are translated using the spot exchange rate at the end of the reporting period.

Marketplace repayments are directly connected with repayments received from loans to customers and are shown below:

Kredo Finance sh.p.k. Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2022

Financial Risk Management (Continued) 20

e) Liquidity risk (continued)

Assets and Liabilities discounted	Demand					2022
In thousands of Albanian ALL	Demand and less than 1 month	From 1 to 6months	From 6 to 12months	From 12 months to 5 years	Over 5 years	Tota
Assets						
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and advances to	78,846	-	-	-	-	78,846
customers	873,713	997,389	579,952	872,666	-	3,323,720
Other assets	4,864	23,037	38,565	7,401	-	73,867
Total	957,423	1,020,426	618,517	880,067	-	3,476,433
Liabilities						
Other borrowed funds	324,656	405,745	232,233	836,289	-	1,798,923
Other liabilities	114,989	25,095	45,823	-	-	185,907
Total potential future						
payments for financial obligations	439,645	430,840	278,056	836,289	-	1,984,830
Liquidity gap arising from financial instruments	517,778	589,586	340,461	43,778	-	1,491,603
Liabilities undiscounted						
In thousands of ALL	Less than 1 months	2-6 months	7 months to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Tota
Liabilities						
Fixed interest rate Other liabilities (non-interest	-	-	-	-	-	-
bearing)	114,989	25,095	45,823	-	-	185,907
Total potential future payments for financial obligations	114,989	25,095	45,823	-	•	185,907
		,*	;			
Liquidity gap arising from financial instruments	114,989	25,095	45,823	-		185,907

Liquidity risk (continued) e)

Whereas for the year 2021, the position according to liquidity is presented as follows:

						2021
In thousands of Albanian ALL	Demand and less than 1 month	From 1 to 6 months	From 6 to 12 months	From 12 months to 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Assets						
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and advances to	70,773	-	-	-	-	70,773
customers	606,781	730,212	404,794	556,970	-	2,298,757
Other assets	4,835	25,174	44,043	45,608	-	119,660
Total	682,389	755,386	448,837	602,578		2,489,190
Liabilities						
Other borrowed funds	228,304	90,523	88,248	1,106,011	-	1,513,086
Other liabilities	96,735	18,015	17,057	-	-	131,807
Total potential future						
payments for financial obligations	325,039	108,538	105,305	1,106,011	-	1,644,893
Liquidity gap arising from financial instruments	357,350	646,848	343,532	(503,433)	-	844,297
Liabilities undiscounted In thousands of ALL	Less than 1 months	2-6 months	7 months to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Liabilities						
Fixed interest rate	-	-	-	-	-	
Other liabilities (non-interest bearing)	96,735	18,015	17,057	-	-	131,807
Total potential future payments for financial obligations	96,735	18,015	17,057	-	-	131,807
Liquidity gap arising from financial instruments	96,735	18,015	17,057	-	-	131,807

21 **Management of Capital**

The Entity manages its capital to ensure that the Entity will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Entity consists of debt, which includes the borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders.

Under the current capital requirements set by the Bank of Albania, the Entity have to maintain a regulatory capital above a prescribed minimum level. Based on information provided internally to key management personnel, the amount of capital was ALL 1,714,404 thousand as of 31 December 2022 (2021: ALL 1,162,731 thousand).

21 Management of Capital (Continued)

The capital as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 as required by BoA is presented below (SRU form 6.2):

31 December 2022	Capital requirements in thousands of ALL	Minimum amount	Amount for Kredo
1	Credit institutions	100,000	
	Leasing, factoring, e-money, payment and		
2	transfer institutions	20,000	
3	Microcredit institutions	15,000	1,725,814
4	Advisory services institutions	10,000	

31 December 2021	Capital requirements in thousands of ALL	Minimum amount	Amount for Kredo
1	Credit institutions	100,000	
	Leasing, factoring, e-money, payment and		
2	transfer institutions	20,000	
3	Microcredit institutions	15,000	1,162,731
4	Advisory services institutions	10,000	

22 Fair Value Disclosures

Fair value is the price that would be received for an asset sold or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Entity has access at that date.

For illiquid financial assets and liabilities, including loans and advances to customers, there are no active markets. Accordingly, fair value for these has been estimated using appropriate valuation techniques.

The fair value of Cash and cash equivalents is their carrying amount as these balances may be withdrawn without notice and the valuation matches Level 1 inputs.

The fair value of loans and advances to customers is calculated by discounting expected future cash flows. Due to the simple nature of the loan portfolio the fair value of loans and advances to customers is carrying amount and the valuation matches Level 3 inputs.

Derivatives are valued using techniques based on observable market data. Fair value for Derivatives equals carrying amount and the valuation matches Level 2 inputs.

The fair value of borrowed funds is calculated by discounting expected future cash flows. The fair value of borrowed funds is carrying amount and the valuation matches Level 3 inputs.

	31 December 2022			31 December 2021			
Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
-	-	4,912,086	4.912.086	-	-	3.004.488	3.004.488
-	-	36,554	36,554	-	-	38,643	38,643
-	-	65,593	65,593	-	-	98,500	98,500
			-				
-	-	17,006	17,006	-	-	9,342	9,342
-	-	155,328	155,328	-	-	92,623	92,623
	-	Level 1 Level 2	Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 - - 4,912,086 - - 36,554 - - 65,593 - - 17,006	Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total - - 4,912,086 4,912,086 36,554 - - 36,554 36,554 36,553 - - 65,593 65,593 - - - 17,006 17,006 -	Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 - - 4,912,086 4,912,086 - - - 36,554 36,554 - - - 65,593 65,593 - - - 17,006 17,006 -	Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 - - 4,912,086 4,912,086 - - - - - 36,554 36,554 - - - - - 65,593 65,593 - - - - - 17,006 17,006 - - -	Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 - - 4,912,086 4,912,086 - - 3,004,488 - - 36,554 36,554 - - 38,643 - - 65,593 65,593 - - 98,500 - - 17,006 17,006 - 9,342

23 Related Party Transactions

Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control, or one party has the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.

At 31 December 2022, the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

In thousands of ALL	Immediate parent Entity	Other related parties
Other assets	-	3,752
Loans and borrowings	-	582,573
Other liabilities	-	20,688

Type of Relationship

Composition of Related Parties The related parties of the Entity are as follows: Entity/Individual

IndividualUltimate OwnerEntity (Eleving Consumer Finance Holding)ShareholderRelated party 1 (Mogo Finance AS & Eleving Group AS)Part of the same groupRelated party 2 (JSC Eleving Consumer Finance)Part of the same groupRelated party 3 (AS MINTOS MARKETPLACE)Same ultimate beneficiaryRelated party 4 (AS FINITERA / SIA DCE)Former shareholder of Kredo Finance

The volume of transactions with related parties of the Entity is as follows:

Related Party	Type of Transaction	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Related party 1	Borrowing	1,293,013	1,003,168
Related party 1	Interest expense	96,299	9,438
Related party 1	Loan issued	-	700,761
Related party 1	Interest income	2,545	6,319
Related party 2	Other assets	20,592	-
Related party 2	Other liabilities	227,819	58,301
Related party 3	Other assets	3,012	-
Related party 3	Service fee	9,802	10,092
Related party 4	System purchase	-	12,357
Related party 4	Expenses	-	636
Related party 4	Other assets	-	545

The balances of related party transactions of the Entity are as follows:

Related Party	Type of Transaction	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Related party 1	Loan liabilities	582,573	845,320
Related party 1	Accrued expenses	4,640	9,438
Related party 1	Interest receivables	-	2,553
Related party 2	Accounts payable	1,886	-
Related party 2	Accrued expenses	14,894	13,636
Related party 3	Accrued expenses	1,886	-
Related party 3	Prepaid expenses	1,153	666

The service fee paid for the Mintos P2P platform is presented in this respective related party note. Loans originating from investors through the Mintos P2P platform are not considered related party transactions.

All transactions with related parties arise in the normal course of business on agreed terms and their amounts are not materially different from the terms and conditions that would prevail in transactions with unrelated parties.

23 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

The following have been the remuneration to the management of the Entity for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

In thousands of ALL	31 December 2022	31 December 2021
Salaries	12,525	9,480
Bonuses	3,080	8,653
Total	15,605	18,133

24 Legal litigation

There have been no litigations which could result in material liability for the Entity.

25 Events after the reporting period

On January 2023 according to shareholder's assembly dated on 03 March 2022 has been registered the reduction of capital at the amount of 445,000 thousand ALL.

There are no other events after the reporting date that would require adjustments or additional disclosures in these financial statements.